.... 
FILED~ 

~ JUN 1 6 2016 
WASHINGTON STA 

SUPREME COURT 

No. 728440 

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF 
WASHINGTON, DIVISION I 

GEOFFREY CHISM, 

Appellant, 

v. 

TRI-STATE CONSTRUCTION, INC. and LARRY AGOSTINO, 

Respondents. 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 

John S. Riper, WSBA# 11161 
Sarah E. Cox, WSBA #46703 

ASHBAUGH BEAL, LLP 

701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4400 
Seattle, W A 981 04-7012 

(206) 386-5900 I fax (206) 344-7400 

Attorneys for Respondents 



'

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The petitioners are the defendants below: Tri-State Construction, 

Inc. and its president, Larry Agostino. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' published 

decision dated May 7, 2016, attached in the Appendix as pages A-1 

through A-44. Petitioners seek review of the issues raised by appellant 

Chism on which the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court, and the 

cross-appeal issues raised by defendants that the Court of Appeals either 

denied or did not reach. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Where attorney Chism engaged in numerous breaches of the Rules 

of Professional Conduct in his formation and performance of the contracts 

he persuaded his client to agree to for compensation of his legal services, 

is Chism immunized from the trial court's authority to compel 

disgorgement of benefits called for by those contracts solely because the 

contracts were- at least superficially- contracts for "wages"? 

Where Chism's compensation claims were subject to a bona fide 

dispute over Chism's professional misconduct, did the trial court err in 

nevertheless awarding exemplary damages to Chism? 
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Where Chism's claim for prevailing party attorney fees was largely 

for litigating his professional misconduct, did the trial court err m 

believing itself without authority to refuse award of such fees? 

Where Chism's claim for compensation was successfully contested 

by his client as unreasonable and was reduced accordingly, was the claim 

nevertheless liquidated for award of prejudgment interest? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Tri-State Construction is a general contractor owned and run by the 

Agostino family: First by founder Joe Agostino, and for the last 20 years 

by his three sons, Ron, Larry, and Tom. 1 When Ron Agostino became 

Tri-State's president in 1996, Geoff Chism was the company's general 

counsel, and Chism continued to be general counsel to Tri-State until he 

terminated his relationship with the company in April 2012.2 

In 2002 Chism and his law firm changed their compensation 

arrangement with Tri-State from billing on an hourly basis to billing for all 

general counsel work at a flat monthly fee of $10,000 per month. 3 The flat 

fee paid for "whatever it takes" for Tri-State's general counsel 

CP 2439-40 (Findings of Fact Nos. 1 & 3); RP (5/19/14):151, 154-56; 
CP 2463 (Finding of Fact No. 97); CP 2439-40 (Finding of Fact No. 1). 
2 CP 2440 (Finding ofFactNo. 2); RP (5/13114):165, RP (5/14114):71. 

CP 2440-41 (Findings of Fact Nos. 6 & 8). 
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representation, other than litigation.4 In later years Chism substantially 

raised the amount of the monthly general counsel flat fee, but the 

agreement that it paid for "whatever it takes" other than for litigation 

remained the same. By 2007 Chism's monthly fee was $17,000.5 

In 2008 Chism decided to leave his law firm. He proposed to 

Tri-State that they continue with him as their general counsel, but that he 

practice out of his house. Chism proposed that instead of paying his law 

firm, Tri-State would pay the same amount of money to Chism directly for 

the same work, done the same way, but with Chism being placed on the 

Tri-State payroll so that he would be enrolled in Tri-State's medical plan.6 

Chism proposed that he be paid at the rate of $190,000 a year. He 

calculated that amount by multiplying his monthly flat fee of $17,000 by 

twelve (equaling $204,000), and subtracting $14,000 as the annual cost to 

Tri-State for Chism's medical benefits and payroll taxes.7 

Chism's change in status from outside general counsel to in-house 

general counsel was therefore purely nominal. As he admitted on cross 

examination: 

4 

6 

I was going to do the same work for the same people, the 
same amount of time. I would continue to work out of my 

CP 2441 (Finding of Fact No.7); RP (5/13/14):166-67; RP (5/14/14):61. 
CP 2442-43 (Findings of Fact Nos. 12 & 14); RP (5/14/14):45-46. 
CP 2443-44 (Finding of Fact No. 22). RP (5/14/14):56 & 61. 
RP (5/14/14):64. 
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house. I'd come to Tri-State only when need be. I'd get 
paid the same amount. Apples to apples. The only 
difference was I'd either continue to bill them [$17,000] a 
month from home or I'd go in-house and get a paycheck, 
which would then be reduced by the amount of the health 
insurance they would pay and some taxes, and get a 
paycheck.8 

Thus, the in-house arrangement he proposed in September 2008 

was designed and intended to be a continuation of the general counsel 

contract arrangement he had implemented in 2002. "[I] can do the same 

thing for the same people, same amount of time, work from home. There 

was no change in the substance of what I was going to do. "9 And an 

important part ofthat continued relationship was the fact that the $190,000 

a year compensation would continue to represent full payment for 

"whatever it took" to meet Tri-State's general counsel needs. 10 

In persuading Tri-State to agree to the in-house arrangement 

Chism proposed, Chism knew that Tri-State had never had in-house 

counsel before, and knew nothing about how in-house counsel are 

.1 .d II customan y pat . But Chism did not suggest that Tri-State obtain 

independent advice about his proposal, and Chism neither put in writing 

nor suggested that Tri-State memorialize the terms of his in-house general 

8 

9 

10 

II 

RP (5114114):58-59. 
RP (5/14114):61 (emphasis added). 
RP (5/14114):61. 
RP (5/19114):181. 
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counsel compensation proposal. 12 As Chism knew, Ron Agostino and his 

two brothers trusted that whatever Chism recommended would be in 

Tri-State's best interest, 13 and when Chism told Agostino that his proposal 

would be a good deal that would save Tri-State money, Agostino believed 

h. d d . 14 1m an agree to 1 t. 

Because Chism's compensation was fixed at $190,000 a year 

regardless of the amount of time he worked, Chism dispensed with 

documenting his time in any fashion. 15 He did not work regular hours, 

and worked primarily out ofhis home. 16 

In early 2010 Ron Agostino was diagnosed with Alzheimer's 

disease and placed on Alzheimer's medication. 17 His decline was so 

significant that by early 2011 Chism lobbied for Agostino to step down 

from Tri-State. 18 During trial Chism claimed that he had not noticed any 

significant impairment of Agostino's mental abilities, contradicting his 

12 CP 2444-45 (Finding of Fact No. 26); RP (5/19114): 181. 
13 CP 2454 & 2461 (Findings of Fact Nos. 59, 85, 86); CP 2474 
(Conclusion of Law No. 16); RP (5/21/14):29-30 & 144-45; RP (5/22/14):7, 24-
25, 114, 121. 
14 CP 2444 (Findings of Fact Nos. 23-24); RP (5/19/14):180. 
15 CP 2445 (Findings of Fact Nos. 29-30). 
16 CP 2445 (Finding of Fact No. 30); RP (5/12114):58-59 & 61. 
17 RP (5115/14):29-30. 
18 CP 2458 (Finding of Fact No. 71). 
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own contemporaneous written statements. 19 The trial court found that 

Ch. ' . d"bl 20 1sm s testimony was not ere 1 e. 

As Tri-State's fiscal 2010 was drawing to a close in September of 

that year, Chism proposed a unilateral change to his general counsel 

contract terms. Chism proposed to Agostino that he be paid a retroactive 

bonus over and above his $190,000 salary, and that the new bonus 

arrangement would apply to his future work as well.21 Chism's proposal 

was oral, and he claims Agostino accepted it in the same conversation in 

which Chism proposed it. Two weeks later, Chism emailed to Agostino a 

memorandum purporting to recite the terms that Chism's email said 

Agostino had already agreed to, and calling for payment to Chism of a 

$310,000 bonus?2 Chism's confirming memorandum began with a series 

of representations about the basis for his then-current compensation, all of 

which were false: 

19 

My current compensation, which believe it or not we 
originally set over ten years ago, is based on me spending 
an average of less than an hour and a half a day on 
Tri-State matters, or about seven hours a week. 

CP 2458 (Findings ofFactNo. 72 & 74). 
20 CP 2459 (Finding of Fact No. 77) ("The evidence demonstrates that 
Mr. Chism believed Ron's impairment was impacting his ability to run Tri-State. 
Mr. Chism's testimony to the contrary was not credible."). 
21 CP 2447 (Finding of Fact No. 38). 
22 Exhibit 9; CP 2449, 2450 & 2555 (Findings of Fact Nos. 45, 47 & 62). 

- 6 -



His contention that his fixed general counsel fee arrangement was 

ever based upon an average number of hours a week (let alone that he and 

Agostino "originally set" it that way ten years earlier) was an invention on 

Chism's part.23 As the trial court found: 

There was no credible or persuasive evidence that 
Mr. Chism's flat monthly fee arrangement was ever tied to 
him working an average number of hours per day, week, or 
month. From the beginning of this retainer relationship to 
its end (when he went in-house), Mr. Chism repeatedly 
testified that his monthly retainer was not tied to a number 
of hours that he would work, rather he would "do whatever 
it took" and "whatever Tri-State asked" in exchange for a 
dependable monthly retainer and the benefit of not having 
to account or bill for his time."24 

Thus, the fixed amount paid by Tri-State, both when Chism was the 

company's outside general counsel and when he became in-house general 

counsel, was always supposed to be full payment for "whatever it took" 

for Chism to perform his general counsel work.25 But as Chism fully 

expected, Agostino agreed to Chism's proposal for additional bonuses.26 

The trial court found: 

Mr. Chism knew that Tri-State had never employed in
house counsel before Mr. Chism, and Ron had no 
knowledge about how in-house counsel are typically paid. 

23 CP 2442-44 & -48 (Findings of Fact Nos. 17, 23-25 & 41); see RP 
(5114114):61 & 106; RP (5/20/14):29. 
24 CP 2442-43 (Finding of Fact No. 17); see RP (5114/14):61 & 106; RP 
( 5/20114 ):29. 
25 CP 2442-44 (Findings of Fact Nos. 17, 23-25); see RP (5114114):61 & 
106; RP (5/20/14):29. 
26 Exhibit 57. 
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Mr. Chism did not advise Ron that he was acting in his own 
personal interest and not as Tri-State's attorney in 
proposing the new compensation arrangement. Mr. Chism 
did not advise Ron to seek independent review of the 
September 2010 memo or the arrangements it described. 
Ron accepted Mr. Chism's representations about their past 
arrangements as true. As Mr. Chism could have predicted, 
Ron never considered obtaining independent review of the 
memo or the proposed modified arrangement, because he 
completely trusted Mr. Chism and assumed the proposed 
arrangement must be reasonable and in Tri-State's 
interest. 27 

Chism also failed to disclose that he had no reliable way to give a 

"best estimate of the total amount of time" he had spent on Tri-State's 

behalf in the preceding year because he intentionally kept no time 

records. 28 And as to bonus payments he would ask for at the end of future 

fiscal years, Chism did not disclose that he intended to continue not to 

keep time records or any other reliable means of estimating or verifying 

the extent and nature of his efforts as Tri-State's general counsel.29 

The trial court found that Chism's proposal for his new bonus 

arrangement, including the retroactive $310,000 bonus, was unfair and 

unreasonable to Tri-State.3° Chism got Tri-State to agree to his proposal 

27 CP 2454 (Finding of Fact No. 59). 
28 CP 2445 (Finding of Fact No. 30) ("As in-house General Counsel for 
Tri-State, Mr. Chism did not track or record the matters he worked on or the time 
he spent on them."); CP 2455 (Finding of Fact No. 63); CP 2455-57 (Findings of 
Fact Nos. 63-67). 
29 !d. 
30 CP 2453-57 (Findings of Fact Nos. 57-69). 
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by pitching it exclusively to Ron Agostino, who he knew held Chism in 

total trust, and who Chism had for months known had been diagnosed as 

suffering from Alzheimer's disease. And despite all of that, Chism chose 

not to recommend that Agostino seek independent counsel for what Chism 

was proposmg. 

As the trial court found, had Chism arranged for independent 

counsel to consult on his proposal, no independent counsel would have 

told Tri-State to agree to it: 

Mr. Chism should have recommended that Tri-State seek 
independent counsel to review his proposed 
bonus/adjustment. Had he done so, no reasonable 
independent counsel would have advised Tri-State to agree 
to Mr. Chism's proposal. 31 

A year later, Chism proposed to Agostino that Chism be paid 

another bonus, this time for $500,000. Although Agostino's Alzheimer's 

issues had become so significant that Chism had for months urged that 

Agostino step down from company management, Chism persuaded 

Agostino to the proposed bonus in their conversation. Chism did not 

disclose that he was advocating only for his personal interests, and not for 

the best interests of his long-time client.32 And Chism never 

recommended that Agostino or Tri-State get independent counsel. 

31 

32 
CP 2482 (Conclusion of Law No. 33). 
CP 2461 (Finding of Fact No. 86). 
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"Trusting and relying that Mr. Chism was acting m Tri-State's best 

interest,"33 and apparently also thinking that Chism would only get a 

bonus if there was a successful recovery on a recently filed claim of 

Tri-State,34 Agostino agreed to Chism's proposal.35 The trial court found 

that Chism's $500,000 bonus proposal was neither fair nor reasonable. 

The number of hours Chism claimed he worked as the basis for his 

proposed bonus "was nothing more than an educated guess."36 His bonus 

claim rested on the same misrepresentations as had his 201 0 bonus 

proposal?7 He knew Tri-State only paid bonuses in profitable years when 

it had cash in hand, 38 yet Chism wrote a memorandum confirming the 

bonus in a way to evade Agostino's understanding that any bonus would 

only be in the event of a successful claim recovery. 39 

In March 2012, Ron Agostino stepped down and Larry Agostino 

became Tri-State's president. Chism promptly met with him to discuss 

payment of his $500,000 bonus for fiscal 2011, and to propose a mid-year 

bonus for himself for fiscal2012. 40 Larry Agostino said he thought Chism 

33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

39 

40 

CP 2461 (Finding of Fact No. 86). 
RP (5/20/14):42 & 46. 
Exhibit 17. 
CP 2462 (Finding of Fact No. 90). 
CP 2462 (Finding of Fact No. 91). 
CP 2461 (Finding of Fact No. 87). 
Exhibit 16; CP 2461 (Finding of Fact No. 85). 
CP 2463 (Finding of Fact No. 97). 
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had taken advantage of his brother with his $500,000 bonus proposal, and 

that Chism would have a hard time collecting it.41 Chism knew that put 

both his claim to the bonus and his self-interest directly in conflict with 

Tri-State's interests.42 But Chism did not withdraw from the discussion, 

did not disclose that he was not acting as Tri-State's general counsel but 

was instead representing solely his own interests, did not get Larry's 

consent that he act in that capacity, and did not advise Larry to get 

independent counsel. Instead, Chism just kept negotiating directly with 

Agostino.43 

Later that day Chism wrote a memorandum confirming what 

Chism claimed was an agreement he and Agostino had reached during 

their face-to-face meeting that morning, including paying the $500,000 

bonus, paying Chism another bonus of $250,000, plus additional benefits 

to Chism such as giving him the company Mercedes he had been using.44 

Chism asked that Larry Agostino initial the memo to confirm his 

agreement to it. Agostino never did so. As the trial court ultimately 

found: 

41 

42 

43 

44 

Mr. Chism said they should get the matter settled. Larry 
responded that there was no need to talk about it, as 
Tri-State was not willing to provide Mr. Chism the 

CP 2464 (Finding of Fact No. 99); RP (5/22/14):50. 
!d. 
CP 2464 (Finding of Fact No. 1 00). 
Exhibit 20. 
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additional compensation they had discussed. When 
Mr. Chism asked about the $500,000, Larry said he 
understood that was still an open issue. Mr. Chism said 
that under the circumstances, he would have to resign, 
which he did that same day. Tri-State never paid the 
$500,000 or $250,000 bonus.45 

Chism sued for breach of contract and for double damages for willful 

withholding of wages. Tri-State defended on the basis that any 

entitlement Chism might otherwise have had to the $310,000 bonus he 

received and to the $500,000 and $250,000 bonuses he demanded should 

be disgorged for breach of his RPC obligations. Chism's contract claims 

were tried to a jury, but the trial court reserved for itself all issues 

regarding Chism's RPC obligations, and kept from the jury all evidence 

and discussion of the existence, terms, and breach of Chism's RPC 

obligations. Following a jury verdict for the bonus amounts Chism was 

claiming, the trial court determined Chism had engaged in numerous 

violations of RPC 1.7(a), RPC 1.8(a), and RPC 8.4(c), all of which the 

court documented in detailed Findings and Conclusions.46 

The trial court ruled that of the retroactive $310,000 bonus Chism 

had negotiated for himself, disgorgement of all but $38,000 was 

45 CP 2466 (Finding of Fact No. 1 07). 
46 The trial court did not address whether Chism had also violated RPC 1.5, 
deferring to a pretrial summary judgment ruling of Judge Michael Trickey that 
RPC 1.5 could not apply to Chism's conduct in proposing and pursuing the 
modifications to his attorney compensation arrangements.46 That ruling was part 
ofTri-State's issues on cross-appeal. 
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appropriate; of the $500,000 bonus he negotiated, disgorgement of 

$165,000 was required; and of the $250,000 bonus he negotiated, 

$113,000 would be disgorged.47 Accounting for the $310,000 that 

Tri-State had already paid Chism as bonus compensation, that left the 

company owing $200,000 in unpaid bonus.48 

The trial court did not consider whether the parties' dispute over 

Chism's RPC violations (which the jury never knew about) constituted a 

bona fide dispute such that it negated Chism's entitlement to exemplary 

damages. Instead, the trial court mechanically adopted the jury's 

determination that the nonpayment was willful, and doubled Chism's 

$200,000 award to $400,000.49 

Although Chism's claims required a determination of 

reasonableness (and were all found to be unreasonable), the trial court 

declared that Chism's claims were liquidated and that he was entitled to 

prejudgment interest, which the court awarded. 50 

Lastly, because Chism had obtained a net award on his contract 

claims under Washington's wage statutes, the trial court granted him 

attorney fees as provided in those statutes. The trial court declined to 

47 

48 

49 

50 

CP 2502 (Conclusion of Law Nos. 82-84). 
CP 2503 (Conclusion of Law No. 85). 
CP 2503 (Conclusion of Law No. 86). 
CP 4508 (Judgment). 
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consider whether Chism's breaches of his fiduciary attorney duties 

warranted disgorgement of the right to attorney fees, even though Chism's 

breaches directly led to the parties disputing the claims that the jury and 

trial court ultimately had to adjudicate. 

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court, holding that the trial 

court had no equitable power to order any disgorgement of Chism's 

compensation for his services because that compensation represented 

wages rather than "fees" for his work. The Court of Appeals held that the 

trial court could not discipline Chism for his RPC violations by modifying 

judgment in favor of Chism without explicit authority from this Court on 

the judiciary's authority to sanction in-house attorneys for unethical 

conduct. The appellate court therefore rejected Tri-State's cross-appeal. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

This Court should accept review of the issues appealed from the 

trial court because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 

multiple decisions of this Court, and because the decision of the Court of 

Appeals circumscribes the judiciary's equitable authority to enforce and 

discipline an attorney's violation of professional obligations. See RAP 

13(4)(b)(l), (3) & (4). 

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' constrained view of the judicial 

authority to regulate attorney misconduct, the Washington constitution 
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grants to the Supreme Court absolute, unconstrained authority to establish 

ethical standards for Washington attorneys, and to discipline for their 

breach. 

This court is ultimately responsible for lawyer discipline in 
the state of Washington and holds plenary authority in that 
regard. 

In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Hicks, 166 Wn.2d 774, 781, 214 

P.3d 897, 900 (2009) (emphasis added).

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