A. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves the compensation owed by a corporation to one 

of its executives1 who also served as its general counsel. The jury here 

determined that Tri-State Construction, Inc. ("Tri-State") willfully 

withheld bonuses due to Geoffrey Chism ("Chism") for his exemplary 

services that saved the corporation. Dissatisfied with the jury's decision, 

the trial court required Chism to forfeit a significant portion of the bonuses 

for an alleged breach of fiduciary duties to Tri-State based on putative 

professional rules violations; the trial court invaded the fact finding role of 

the jury, misinterpreting and misapplying the Rules of Professional 

Conduct ("RPCs") by finding that an employee attorney's negotiations 

with his corporate employer over compensation violated the RPCs. The 

Court of Appeals properly found that the trial court's conduct was 

reversible error. 

Now, petitioners Tri-State Construction, Inc. and Larry Agostino 

(''Tri-State") fail to precisely articulate how this Court's RAP 13.4(b) 

criteria apply to merit review of that opinion. Rather, its petition is 

essentially an invitation to this Court to reconsider all facets of the Court 

1 The RPCs are inapplicable to business executives as such. Restatement 
(Third) of the Law Governing Lawyers,§ 14 cmt. c. 
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of Appeals' opinion.2 The Court of Appeals got it right. This Court 

should deny review. RAP 13.4(b). 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Court of Appeals extensively articulated the facts in its 

opinion. Op. at 2-19. While Chism does not universally agree with the 

court's factual recitation (largely drawn from the trial court's findings 

rather than those compelled by the jury's verdict), Chism addresses facts 

here only to the extent that Tri-State's petition either omits key facts or 

misstates the record. Pet. at 2-14. 

First, perhaps the most glaring omission in Tri-State's petition is 

its studied refusal to acknowledge that it owes its continued existence to 

Chism, who saved it from its disastrous Bear Hydro project and imminent 

financial ruin. Op. at 11-12. Beginning in 2010, Chism's workload 

drastically increased largely due to that project. Eventually, instead of a 

Tri-State does this Court no service by offering only an amorphous, 
unnumbered recitation of the issues it presents for review. Pet. at 1-2. Also, it provides 
this Court no assistance in making a decision on review by failing to specifically 
document in its argument why review should be granted or precisely how the issues it 
attempts to raise meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). The failure to set out an issue in the 
statement of issues, required under RAP 13.4(c)(5), means a party has not "raised" an 
issue, and the issue may not be raised for the first time in subsequent supplemental 
briefing. State v. Korum, 157 Wn.2d 614, 623-25, 141 P.3d 13 (2006) (The petitioner 
there also failed to present argument on the issue in its petition as required by RAP 
13.4(c)(7)). It is no different if a party mentions an issue but then fails to address as is 
required by RAP 13.4(c)(7); it must be disregarded. In re Detention of A.S., 138 Wn.2d 
898, 922 n.l 0, 982 P.2d 1156 (1999) (in the absence of argument on an issue in a petition 
for review, Court will not consider the argument). 

By not addressing them, Tri-State waives issues relating to RPC 1.5, 1.7, 8.4, 
and the trial court's fee award. RAP 13.7(b). 
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part-time position, Chism worked more than full-time. RP (5/7 /15):90, 

141-42. Kristi Middleton, Tri-State's former CFO, testified that Chism 

worked seven days a week on that project and it was not an ordinary part 

ofhisjob. RP (5/7/14):178-79. 

Chism began working on the Bear Hydro project m 2010. 

Problems with the project compelled Tri-State to ask Chism to take over 

as president of TRP, Tri-State's Canadian subsidiary for the project. RP 

(5/20/14):75.3 Chism continued in that role from October 2011 until the 

project problems were resolved in March 2012. RP (5/7/14):180; 

(5/12/14):149-50. The trial court acknowledged Chism's role. CP 4935 

(FF 79 (Chism helped Tri-State stay in business, preserved its bonding 

capacity, and saved at least $27 million)). In saving Tri-State while acting 

as TRP's president, he acted not as legal counsel, but as a corporate 

executive of a Canadian company.4 

3 Tri-State president Ron Agostino also recognized that the Bear Hydro project 
in Canada was not ordinary work for Chism. He called the project a "disaster" because 
the designer "blew the budget" and "The owner was not nice, very hard, ruthless." RP 
(5/20114):70. He testified that when things "got really bad with the ruthless owner,'' Ron 
brought Chism into the mix because he needed him. RP (5/20/14):76-77. Ron testified 
the future of Tri-State was at stake and Chism did whatever he needed to do to save the 
project and the company; in the end, Chism did exactly what was needed. RP 
(5/20/14):77. All of Chism's work on Bear Hydro was for a Canadian subsidiary of Tri
State and could not, by definition, and as pointed out by Chism in writing to all 
concerned at the time, constitute the practice of law in Washington. Tri-State and its 
Canadian subsidiary had independent Canadian legal counsel at all times. 

Thus, the trial court "disgorged'' not just Chism's general counsel 
compensation, but compensation for FY 2012 when he served as a corporate executive of 
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Second, Tri-State asserts that Chism's statement that he would do 

"whatever it takes'' to get the job done was essentially an agreement to 

work an unlimited number of hours and change a part-time job into an all 

consuming full-time position with no need for any change in 

compensation. Pet. at 2-3, 4, 7. At trial, Ron Agostino refused to support 

Tri-State's interpretation ofthe agreement with Chism.5 

Third, Tri-State implies that Chism's bonuses were somehow 

unusual. Pet. at 2-12. They were not. Tri-State had a long history of 

paying bonuses to its employees, including senior executives like the 

Agostino brothers. RP (5/20/14):30.6 

Fourth, Tri-State implies in its petition at 5-6, 9 that Ron's medical 

condition deprived him of the ability to make important decisions like the 

bonus decisions, and that Chism took advantage of that medical condition. 

a Canadian subsidiary, service over which the trial court had no authority. The Court of 
Appeals noted Tri-State's apparent tactical decision not to pursue damages or restitution 
from Chism, op. at 42-43, a tactic that was plainly risky given the undisputed evidence 
that Chism had saved the company. /d. at 43 n.35. 

5 As noted above, he, as well as Middleton, recognized the demands of Bear 
Hydro far exceeded Chism's prior responsibilities as Tri-State's in-house counsel. 
Moreover, Ron equated doing "whatever it takes" to mean doing what the company asked 
him to do and getting results. RP (5/20114):68. 

6 The Agostinos were paid handsome bonuses. RP (517/14): 153, 157. In 
addition, with Ron's approval, Lan-y took out a $1 million "loan" from Tri-State to build 
his house in Santa Barbara. RP (5/22/l4):1 05-06. In FY 2011, when Ron agreed to pay 
Chism a bonus for all his work in trying to salvage Tri-State Bear Hydro, Lan-y never 
paid back any of the million dollar loan to help company cash flow as it struggled to meet 
its obligations. /d. at I 07, 110-11. That was because while letting Chism and Ron handle 
Bear Hydro, Lan-y, Tri-State's treasurer, was focused on building his California beach 
house and protecting his personal financial position. Jd. at 112-13. 
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That assertion is not supported by any evidence. Ron testified at trial that 

his medical condition did not affect his ability to decide right from wrong 

or fair from unfair, RP (5/20/14):61, he could recall the events of2010, RP 

(5/19/14): 128, and he recalled having an "actual memory" of Ex. 9 (the 

exhibit pertaining to bonuses for Chism) at the time and was not confused 

by it. RP (5/20/14):25. When Ron and Chism discussed a FY 2011 bonus 

on October 20, 2011 in the car returning from meetings in Canada on Bear 

Hydro, Ron testified that he did not feel pressured or cornered as to the FY 

2011 bonus, or that the discussion was in any way inappropriate. /d. at 42, 

92. He also testified he was fully aware of the arrangement with Chism: 

"That I could decide what to pay him there, what would be fair." /d. at 45, 

88, 96. Ron never testified he felt Chism had taken advantage of him. /d. 

at 93. 7 

Tri-State's petition also omits a critical point: regardless of Ron's 

interactions with Chism as to any bonuses, Chism's bonuses were Ron's 

only action among the numerous decisions he made as its president ever 

questioned by Tri-State; the bonuses were spec(fica!ly authorized by Tri-

State's board that included Larry. RP (5/27/14):13-14. Chism's bonuses, 

7 Pointedly, Larry did not have any concems about Ron when he got a $500,000 
bonus and million dollar "loan" in FY 2010. RP (5/27/14):103, 107. 
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according to their specific tenns, were discretionary with Tri-State. Ex. 

57. 

Tri-State's board knew of each bonus given Chism. It was fully 

apprised of the FY 2010 bonus. Exs. 9, 11. Ron discussed it with his 

brothers, RP (5/20/14):35, and Tri-State's board ratified it. RP 

(517/14):163. Both Tom and Larry Agostino also knew from Ron about 

the $500,000 FY 2011 bonus that Ron promised Chism. RP (5/21/14):80.8 

When Ron stepped down as president, Chism met with Larry on March 

28, 2012 to discuss compensation. RP (5/13/14):125.9 Chism's entire 

compensation arrangement was modified at that meeting. Tri-State would 

pay Chism a $750,000 bonus for work performed through that date; 

specifically, the $500,000 FY 2011 bonus promised by Ron and an 

additional $250,000 bonus for FY 2012 proposed by Larry. RP 

(5/13/14):126-27. Chism wrote a confirming email and memorandum. 

Exs. 20, 21. Larry questioned one aspect of the agreement (regarding a 

8 Middleton testified the Tri-State board then decided to change the bonus, 
reducing it to $400,000 on the company ledger, but not telling Chism that it had been 
done while he was in the midst of the Bear Hydro effort. RP (517/14): 143-47. This was 
not an act of good faith. 

9 Tri-State had already hired another lawyer, Greg Russell, before the March 28 
meeting between Larry and Chism. CP 2336. 
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company car) in an email response, ex. 22, but he never disputed the 

recitation about the $750,000 bonus. RP (5/22/14):57, 193. 10 

In sum, Ron's condition was not such that his decisions as 

company president were subject to question. More critically, the Chism 

bonuses were not Ron's decision alone; the entire Tri-State board, 

including Larry, knew of and ratified the bonuses; the $250,000 FY 2012 

bonus was Larry's decision alone. 11 

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

Tri-State's petition is exceedingly skimpy in its articulation of why 

this Court should grant review of the careful, analytical opinion of the 

Court of Appeals. It does not come to grips with the criteria for review set 

forth in RAP 13.4(b). 12 

10 Ultimately, Tri-State questioned Chism's bonuses after Chism performed the 
work, after the bonuses were paid or promised, and after Chism performed added work in 
reliance on them. 

11 Tri-State implies Chism viewed Ron's condition as growing progressively 
worse in 20 II, relying on an August 4, 20 II memo Chism wrote to Tri-State's 
accountant as "lobbying" for Ron to step down. Pet. at 5-6. Any fair reading of that 
memo is that Chism was not expressing a view that Ron was incompetent, but that other 
senior Tri-State management should step up and help instead of leaving it to Ron, Chism, 
and a couple of other Tri-State mangers to deal with the Bear Hydro disaster and to help 
save the family business. Tri-State admitted below that the memo's purpose was "to 
provide more support for Ron." Br. ofResp'ts at 27-28. 

12 In fact, in its petition's section on why review should be granted, mandated 
by RAP 13.4(b)(7), Tri-State makes an exceedingly general argument without numbered 
sections, making it difficult for Chism to respond to its contentions, or for this Court to 
process the case. That alone is a basis for denying review. 
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(1) The Jury Determined Tri-State Deliberately Withheld 
Wages to Which Chism Was Entitled 

Left largely unaddressed in Tri-State's petition is the jury's verdict. 

The jury's decisions on the factual issues foreclosed the trial court's 

efforts to subsequently circumvent those factual findings in the guise of 

making an ''equitable" decision. 

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, op. at 1 7 n.l 0, the trial 

court instructed the jury on the compensation arrangement upon which 

Chism's contract claims were predicated; the Court's instruction, given 

without objection by Tri-State, RP (5/29/14): 138, required Chism to carry 

the burden and to prove in the contract claim being submitted to the jury 

that the factors that could give rise to a breach of fiduciary claim did not 

exist. 13 In other words, the jury found, as a matter of fact, that Chism's 

compensation agreement with Tri-State was fair and reasonable, free of 

undue influence, 14 and made after a full and fair disclosure of the facts. 

13 Without any Tri-State objection, the trial court also instructed the jury that 
breach of contract applied to the $500,000 bonus (October 20 II - Instruction 11 ); the 
$250,000 bonus (March 2012 - Instruction 12); mutual assent and consideration 
(Instructions 13, 14, 15, 16); contract interpretation is to give effect to the intent of the 
parties (Instruction 17); and breach (Instruction 18). CP 2203-l 0. 

14 The trial court, also without objection, instructed the jury on Tri-State's 
affinnative defense of undue influence. CP 2215. The jury was instructed that a party 
could rescind a contract if it was unfairly persuaded to enter into a contract by a person 
with whom there was a confidential relationship. The jury was instructed an attomey
client relationship was a confidential relationship. ld. It was also instructed that in 
detennining whether there was "unfair persuasion" it could consider ·'such factors as the 
unfaimcss of the content, if any, the availability of independent advice, and the 
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See Appendix. 

The trial court did not like the jury's verdict on Geoff Chism's 

bonuses eamed from Tri-State and it endeavored to undercut the jury's 

factual determination in the guise of fact-finding on the breach of 

fiduciary duty issue. 15 But the constitutional fact-finding function of the 

jury foreclosed the trial court's actions. 16 The trial court was not free to 

substitute its judgment on the facts for that of the jury. 17 These points are 

experience or susceptibility of the party persuaded. !d. The jury found not only that 
Chism's agreement with Tri-State was not the product of undue influence, CP 2228, it 
found that Tri-State failed of its burden to prove the defense of undue influence. CP 
2229. 

15 This is made clear in CL 82-84, CP 2460-61, 2502, where the trial court 
substituted its judgment on a fair bonus for that of Tri-State's president. The trial court 
even made up a theoretical contract that should have been entered into by the parties. CL 
32; CP 2482. 

16 Wash. Canst., art. I, § 21; CR 38(a). See generally, Sofie v. Fibreboard 
C01p., 112 Wn.2d 636, 645-46, 771 P.2d 711 (1989) (jury fact finding role in damages); 
Endicott v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc., 167 Wn.2d 873, 224 P.3d 761 (201 0). Indeed, that right 
is "jealously guarded by the courts." Watkins v. Siler Logging Co., 9 Wn.2d 703, 710, 
116 p .2d 315 (1941 ). 

17 The jury's fact-finding role is core to the article I,§ 21 jury trial right. State 
v. Montgome1y, 163 Wn.2d 577, 590, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). The jury has the ultimate 
power to weigh the evidence and determine the facts. James v. Robeck, 19 Wn.2d 864, 
869, 490 P.2d 878 (1971). In Green v. McAllister, 103 Wn. App. 452, 14 P.3d 795 
(2000), the trial court allowed a jury to make an advisory decision on a fiduciary breach 
claim, and a binding decision at law on a breach of contract claim. The court denied the 
fiduciary breach claim, granting a remittitur as to the jury's damage award. Division III 
reversed and reinstated the jury's full verdict, observing that the trial court was foreclosed 
from substituting its factual detem1ination on damages for that of the jury. I 03 Wn. App. 
at 462. See also, Behnke v. Ahrens, 112 Wn. App. 281, 296-97, 294 P.3d 729 (2012), 
review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1003 (2013) (court could not award damages for breach of 
fiduciary duty by attorney in excess of those awarded by jury for malpractice). 
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a critical backdrop to the Court of Appeals' opinion on the RPC/fiduciary 

duty issues. 

(2) Chism Breached No Fiduciary Duty to Tri-State 

The Court of Appeals correctly discerned that no RPC provision 

established a restriction on Chism's ability as in-house counsel to 

negotiate compensation with Tri-State. Op. at 26-43. Instead of 

addressing the court's actual decision, Tri-State sets up a strawman 

argument that the issue for this Court is whether the trial court had

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